IN THE SUPREME COURT THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ANN ELLIOTT BARBER,

Case No. SC01-1006 Appellant 5th DCA No: 5D00-2797

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

_____/

EISENMENGER & BERRY, P.A.

ROBERT R. BERRY Fla. Bar Number 714216 GREGORY W. EISENMENGER Fla. Bar Number 237175 8226 North Wickham Road Suite 202 Melbourne, Florida 32940 (321)757-5211 (office) (321)757-5215 (fax) Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Note: There are extensive references to the trial transcript in the companion case before this Court. Those transcripts were reviewed by the trial judge in making his ruling in the instant case. The State has asked this Court to take judicial notice of the file in SC01-1007, and the Court has granted that request without objection from the Appellant. Thus, "Trial Transcript" citations will refer to the companion case, while "R" citations will refer to the record in the instant case.

The Appellant, Ann Barber, seeks an order from this Court reversing the decision of the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case. The Fifth District reversed a trial court order excluding Williams rule evidence the State sought to offer at trial. Ms. Barber is charged with aggravated child abuse in two separate cases, both of which are before this Court for review in separate actions. Ms. Barber was a daycare worker in the infant section of a church daycare center. Two children who were in Ms. Barber's care developed signs of "shaken baby syndrome." In the State's prosecution of these cases, they sought to use what they believed was evidence the Defendant shook the other baby as Williams rule evidence in the companion case. In this case the State was prosecuting Mrs. Barber for injuries sustained The State sought to offer evidence of by A.P. injuries sustained by another child, D.T., as Williams rule evidence. In the other action, Mrs. Barber is

being prosecuted for injuries sustained by D.T., and the State sought to offer evidence of injuries sustained by A.P. as *Williams* Rule evidence.

Both cases are at different points in the course of their litigation. In the instant case, the Defendant has not gone to trial, and a pre-trial order excluding the proposed Williams rule evidence has been entered. The State sought certiorari review of that decision, and the Fifth District reversed the trial court's order, relying completely on their decision in Barber v. State, 781 So.2d 425 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), which is before this Court for review as SC 01-1007. In that case, the Defendant was tried and convicted in Brevard County Circuit Court, and appealed her conviction to the Fifth District. The primary issue on appeal in that case was the trial court's denial of a pre-admission proceeding where the State would have to present clear and convincing evidence the Defendant actually committed the alleged Williams rule acts. The Fifth District ruled that "[t]he State is only required to give notice of its intent to rely on Williams rule evidence pursuant to section 90.404(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1997).

In the instant case, the Honorable Bruce Jacobus, Circuit Court Judge, Brevard County, State of Florida, found, prior to the Fifth District's ruling in the other <u>Barber</u> case,"[t]he totality of all the evidence examined by this court leads this Court to conclude **that the clear and convincing evidence does not suggest the Defendant was the perpetrator of the crime."** ("Order on State's Proffer of Williams Rule Evidence, r.

1402). Judge Jacobus had before him the entire trial transcript in the companion case, as well as live testimony, and other transcribed testimony in these two cases.

The Defendant in this case has, for over two (2) years, requested an evidentiary hearing on the issue of the admissibility of the *William's* Rule evidence in these two cases. Finally, in the instant case, her request was granted. Not surprisingly, at least to the Defendant, upon an evidentiary hearing, the State's offer of alleged *Williams* Rule evidence was denied.

With regard to the offer of evidence regarding injuries sustained by D.T., allegedly at the hands of the Defendant, Judge Jacobus made numerous factual findings justifying his decision. Judge Jacobus relied on the record in the D.T. prosecution as well as on evidence elicited from Defense experts who had not previously testiified.

The State's key medical witness, Dr. John Tilelli, while being cross-examined in the companion case, had the following exchange with Mrs. Barber's counsel:

> "O (By Mr. Eisenmenger): Well, again, let me back up. Ignore for a moment the mother's report, let's assume the mother never took the baby out of day care, you no longer can consider that in your opinion. A: (By Dr. Tilelli): Correct. Q: Tell me when this injury occurred. A: I can't Q: So what it comes down to is your whole opinion as to when this injury occurred hinges on the truthfulness of the mother's history that she took the child out of day care because of some episode that you feel is consistent with this loss of consciousness?

A: Yes"

(Trial Transcript in 5D99-218, page 930).

The medical testimony of the four primary medical witnesses supports Mrs. Barber's position, and the trial court exercised its right to rely on this testimony, and reject the testimony of the parents. The trial court, in its order on the State's proffer, stated:

> "The most compelling evidence considered by this Court is that each of the Doctors Tilelli, Pattisapu, Cook, and Strausberg found in both infants that there was a collection of old blood in their heads, suggesting subdural hemotomas that existed for some time. Clearly, there is a dispute in the evidence between the doctors as to how long the old blood had There is been there. substantial evidence that the old blood predates either of the children being at the First Baptist Daycare. The totality of all the evidence examined by this court leads this court to conclude that the clear and convincing evidence does not suggest that the Defendant was the perpetrator of the crime."

(R. 1402). Additionally, Judge Jacobus found significance in the testimony of Dr. Jay Cook, a defense expert. Dr. Cook testified that D.T. experienced an unusual increase in his skull size from August to November 1997, where his head size moved from the second to the fiftieth percentile. Cook further testified that:

> "From reviewing the records it's my opinion that what was referred to gastroesophageal reflux by his physicians most likely was due to an acute subdural that occurred in November (1997)".

(R. 1089). Judge Jacobus noted Dr. Cook's opinion that "this was indicative of some type of pressure in the skull and that

that condition predated D.T.'s first contact with

Mrs. Barber by several months.

Dr. Cook testified on direct examination in part as follows:

"Q: (By Mr. Eisenmenger) I want you to assume for the purpose of this question the defendant, Ann Barber's first contact with D.T. was February 3, 1998, approximately a month before this [CT] study was done. Could any action by Ann Barber have resulted in the findings depicted on that particular study? A: (By Dr. Cook) No. Q: Why is that?

A: The timing is just wrong. One would not have seen enough resolution, and I've seen enough subdurals over time and I think the literature documents it.

A Subdural even a month old you would not get this accommodation of the sulci and gyri pattern the way you have in the ventricular accommodation.

Q: Thank you.

A: Can I make one other point -- O: Sure

A: --is where the head circumference really comes in helpful. By following over time we see there's an acute change and then it starts growing again. That's when this would have occurred, between November 24th [1997] and January 10th [1998]."

(R. 1095-1096). Interestingly, according to even his mother, D. was brought to the doctor during early January, 1998 following a week of vomiting/spitting up between Christmas and New Years. (Trial Transcript, pages 110-14). Although Ms. Thimlar indicated the child was only spitting up, her credibility was certainly at issue. And the distinction begs the question: if spitting up means the normal spitting up of all infants, why did D.'s spitting up warrant medical attention at all? On cross-examination, she indicated she could not remember if she told Dr. Arnold, her son's pediatrician, whether D. had been vomiting or spitting up. (Trial Transcript, pages 183). It is certainly consistent with the defense's theory of the case that Mrs. Thimlar would attempt to minimize the significance of these doctor visits.

There is a strong factual basis to question the veracity of the two mothers in this case, as Judge Jacobus reliance on the medical evidence of the mother's testimony indicates. Before D.T. was ever brought to the First Baptist Church Day Care, he had a history of health problems. He had experienced repeated episodes of vomiting during the months leading up to his hospitalization. In fact, during the eightday period beginning around Christmas 1997, D.T. vomited for eight (8) consecutive days before he was finally taken to a doctor. The State alleged in its amended information that Mrs. Barber injured D. somewhere between February 5, and February 11, 1998. There was no purely medical evidence adduced determining the injuries occurred during the time the child was in the care of Mrs. Barber, only speculation by the State based entirely on the history given by the mother, who had a poor recollection of her own child's medical history at trial. (See cross examination of Brenda Thimlar, TT. 171-220, 231-232). Ms. Thimlar did concede that on November 24, 1997, D. had been taken to the Emergency Room at Wuesthoff Hospital in Rockledge, Florida because of discomfort when he was laid on his back and vomiting. (TT. At that time, she gave personnel at the hospital 177).

additional medical history that the child had been crying incessantly for four solid days. (TT. 178). She brought D. to see Dr. Arnold for treatment on January 2, 1998. While her trial testimony was that D. was "spitting up" during the week prior to the doctor visit, she could not remember whether she told Dr. Arnold D. was "vomiting" or "spitting up." (TT 182-3). She did not believe reviewing medical records of Dr. Arnold indicating she reported vomiting would refresh her memory as to what she told Dr. Arnold, even though she is an EMT and thus familiar with medical procedure. (TT 183). Ms. Thimlar conceded that her testimony was inconsistent with medical records regarding doctor visits. (TT199). Ms. testified she brought D. for treatment Thimlar at Pediatrics of Brevard on Monday, February 9, 1998 because of vomiting. (TT 205). Again, she would not confirm the medical record report of the history she gave doctors. (TT 205). She could not recall what history she gave. (TT 206). She ten took D. again for treatment at Pediatrics of Brevard on Wednesday, February 11, 1998. (TT 206). She again could not recall what history she presented the physician with. (TT)206). Generally, it was her position that Pediatrics of Brevard's medical records were not complete. (TT 197-8). Mrs. Thimlar also testified that on February 6, 1998, she noted yellow rings around D.'s eyes. However, on cross examination, she conceded the medical records from the February 6, 1998 visit were inconsistent with her testimony on this point. (TT page 221). She also conceded her testimony

regarding crepitus (a popping sound in the back) being reported by her on February 6, 1998 and observed by medical personnel was not supported by the medical records. (TT 189-199).

Dr. Tilelli, the State's expert, also admitted he had at one time opined he could not medically date the injuries. (Tr. 904). Specifically, Tilelli testified that based on the x-rays, the radiographs only, the window for the injuries sustained by D. was between January 1, 1998 and February 7, 1998. (TT 904). Even the State in their original petition for certiorari to the Fifth District had to concede that one of their own witnesses, Dr. Pattisapu indicated the older injuries were between three and six weeks old (R. 1057, 1058, 1061-1064), which means those injuries to D. occurred before D. T. had any contact with Ann Barber.

Tilelli further conceded that this window would include the time period when Mrs. T. brought D. for treatment after his spitting up/vomiting episodes in late 1997 and early 1998. (TT 903-4). He further admitted he was relying on the history given by the mother for his opinion they happened while D. was in day care. (TT.902-903, 904). The child had a history of "spitting up and fussiness" during the weeks prior to February 5. (TT. 912). Without adding undue length to this recitation of fact, the Appellant would refer the court to the cross examination of Dr. Tilelli, where extensive questioning occurs regarding the contents of the various medical records reviewed by Dr. Tilelli, and the comparison's

made with Ms. Thimlar's testimony. (TT 902-954). Tilelli also testified it would concern him as a pediatrician that a parent did not seek medical attention for a child for a period of eight days with daily vomiting. (TT 950). He further testified that it was a possible indicator of abuse, given the fact that some parents may have waited for the symptomology to resolve prior to seeking treatment. (TT 950).

On February 2, 1998, the other child, A.P., stopped breathing while with Mrs. Barber at First Baptist Daycare. Mrs. Barber immediately got help from co-workers and EMT's. The infant was resuscitated and revived by Mrs. Barber, and was taken to the Wuesthoff Hospital, where she was released shortly thereafter.

On February 17, 1998, A. was again taken to the hospital after being left at day care. She was subsequently found to have suffered injuries consistent with "shaken baby syndrome." There was no purely medical evidence presented indicating the injuries had to have occurred during a time period when the children were in the care of Mrs. Barber. As indicated elsewhere, the medical evidence makes it clear the injuries could have well been sustained long before the child ever came to be cared for by Mrs. Barber. Dr. Tilelli testified he could not pinpoint the date of her injuries based on medical evidence alone. (TT page 998). He was willing to opine on dates when presented with a lengthy hypothetical that relies on the accuracy of the history supplied by A.' mother, who had significant difficulty remembering her child's

medical history as well. (See cross examination of Michelle Champaigne, TT 525-531). Furthermore, the child had a history of congestion prior to ever coming into contact with Mrs. (TT 526). Champaigne had left a device with Mrs. Barber. Barber at her first visit to assist with suctioning the child because of her congestion. (TT 526-7). This problem continued through February 6, 1998 when the breathing episode occurred. (TT 526). Ms. Champaigne testified on one hand that on February 7, 1998, she observed A. exhibiting signs of intense pain when picked up, but does not recall whether she related that fact to her pediatrician Dr. O'Hern when she presented A. for treatment on February 7, 1998. She testifies to continuing to observe this discomfort on February 10, 1998, but again not reporting this fact to Dr. O'Hern. (TT 528-529). She described the cry of pain when she picked her baby up as "unlike anything [her] daughter had ever done before in her life." (TT 529), but did not report this fact to any physician. (TT 530). Likewise, when she saw Dr. O'Hern again on February 15, 1998, she did not report this observation of pain. (TT 530). It was the State's position at trial that these heretofore unreported incidents of pain were the result of rib injuries inflicted by the Defendant on the minor child.

The State took exception to the ruling by Judge Jacobus, and in a timely manner, sought certiorari review by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, State of Florida. Thus, at the same time, both the companion case and the instant case were up for

review by the Fifth District. The Fifth District chose to rule on the companion case first, and stated in that case:

"Barber contends that because no clear and convincing evidence was presented prior to admission before the jury that the former offense was actually committed by her, the court erred by allowing the evidence. We disagree. The State is <u>only</u> required to give notice of its intent to rely on Williams rule evidence pursuant to section 90.404(2)(b) Florida Statutes (1997)." (emphasis added).

The Fifth District then took this holding, applied it to the instant case, and overturned Judge Jacobus' ruling, despite the fact that the cases were based on completely different factual records.

The Appellant sought review of the decision in the instant case, and on November 20, 2001, this Court accepted jurisdiction and directed briefing on the merits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court's decision in the instant case relies on its decision in Barber v. State, 781 So.2d 425 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), which was based on a substantially different factual record, and which was clearly a factual determination by the trial court that the State did not factually show by clear and convincing evidence the Defendant committed the alleged Williams rule acts. Ironically, the issue in the case relied upon by the Fifth District was whether the State had to satisfy the "clear and convincing evidence' standard of admissibility set forth in such decisions as <u>Smith v. State</u>, 700 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); State v. Audano, 641 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); <u>Dibble v. State</u>, 347 So.2d 1096,Fla. 2d DCA 1977); and Malcolm v. State, 415 So.2d 891 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Smith v. State, 743 So.2d 141 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); as well as this Court's decision in <u>State v. Norris</u>, 168 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1964). When the Defendant was given the opportunity (i.e. in the instant case) to put the State's evidence to the test outlined in these cases, the trial court made a factual determination that the State had not met its burden and determined therefore the evidence was inadmissible.

The Fifth District incorrectly ruled there was no entitlement to a pre-admission determination regarding the *Williams* rule evidence, and went as far as to say that mere notice of intent to put on *Williams* rule evidence is sufficient to sustain its admissibility.

ARGUMENT: THE FIFTH DISTRICT ERRED IN RELYING ON ITS DECISION IN <u>BARBER V. STATE</u>, 781, So.2d 425 (Fla. 5th DCA, 2001) IN DECIDING THE INSTANT CASE.

On a different factual record, the Fifth District applies its decision in <u>Barber v. State</u>, 781 So.2d 425 (Fla. 5th DCA, 2001) to the instant case, with no comment on the fact that it is relying on a different factual record. The decision relied upon by the Fifth District asserts two propositions of law, both of which have been rejected by every other district court in this State as well as by this Court.

The Fifth District proposes there is no requirement the proponent of *Williams* rule evidence establish by clear and convincing evidence, prior to its admission, that the act constituting the proposed evidence was actually committed by the accused. The Fifth District further proposes that mere notice alone is sufficient for admission of this highly prejudicial type of evidence. Specifically, the Fifth District stated:

> "Barber contends that because no clear and convincing evidence was presented prior to admission before the jury that the former offense was actually committed by her, the court erred by allowing the evidence. We disagree. The State is <u>only</u> required to give notice of its intent to rely on Williams rule evidence pursuant to section 90.404(2)(b) Florida Statutes (1997)." (emphasis added).

The position asserted by the Fifth District constitutes an express and direct conflict with this Court's decision in <u>State v. Norris</u>, 168 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1964). In <u>Norris</u>, this Court endorsed the proposition that "evidence of a collateral

crime is inadmissible unless accompanied by **evidence** connecting the defendant therewith." Therefore, contrary to the Fifth District's assertion, there is clearly a predicate requirement of proof that goes beyond mere notice.

The holding in <u>Norris</u> has been followed by the Florida First District Court of Appeal in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 700 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) when that Court held "as a **condition precedent to admission** of the evidence the trial court was <u>required</u> to determine that there was **clear and convincing** <u>proof</u> that the appellant committed the prior abuse."

Similarly, the Florida Second District Court of Appeal, in <u>State v. Audano</u>, 641 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), held "[**b**]efore evidence of a collateral crime can be admitted under the *Williams* Rule, there must be clear and convincing evidence that the former offense was actually committed by the defendant." In <u>Dibble v. State</u>, 347 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), the Second District held that "prior to evidence of an independent crime being admissible, it is essential to show that the former crime was committed and committed by the

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