IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ANN	ELLI	OTT	BAF	RBER
7 XI 1I 1		$\mathbf{O}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{I}$	DIM	$\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{u}}$

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC01-1006 5th DCA No. 5D00-2797

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANN M. PHILLIPS Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 978698 444 Seabreeze Boulevard Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386)238-4990 Fax (386)238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Dr. Tilelli testified that a chronic subdural hematoma can only be caused by

trauma. The type of trauma that causes this is shaking and impact to the baby. When a baby is shaken, the head becomes a mass that rocks forward and back and, by its mass, is whipped back and forth forcefully. As the head whips back and forth, it drags the spine along with it. The ribs are attached to the spine which actually pulls and snaps the ribs. It was the doctor's opinion that the baby must have been shaken in such a manner that it was sufficient to break the baby's ribs. The fact that the rib fractures were near D.'s spine was significant in that it supported his belief the spine was used as a lever to break the ribs. (TT 866-868, 894, Vol.10) For the tibia to be broken in the fashion of D.'s injury, it had to be because of some twisting force of the distal tibia; the child's leg would be twisted in such a manner that the bone would give way. (TT 868, Vol.10)

These injuries could not happen accidentally. (TT 868, Vol.10) Dr. Tilelli's diagnosis was that D. suffered from whiplash shaken infant syndrome. (TT 869, Vol.10) There is no specific set of symptoms that goes along with whiplash shaken baby syndrome. However, a baby with injuries significant enough to cause this set of circumstances (i.e., a chronic subdural hematoma) must have had some alteration of level of consciousness attendant to the shaking. (TT 869-870, Vol.10) Whatever level of change occurred, it would happen immediately after the shaking. (TT 871, Vol.10)

With a subdural hematoma, it is not possible to pinpoint an exact day when it occurred, however, it is possible to say within a few days when the injury was sustained based upon the color of fluid on the brain as is appears on the films. (TT 871-872, Vol.10) If there was a history of alteration of level of consciousness, in the absence of other events which could have caused the injury, it would assist in determining when the injuries were inflicted. (TT 873, Vol.10) Based upon the factors

in the hypothetical posed by the prosecutor, as well as those included by defense counsel, which set forth the material facts of D.'s circumstances, in Dr. Tilelli's opinion, the injuries to D. occurred on February 5. This date corresponds with his medical evidence as well as the infant's history. (TT 877-887, 910-911, 930, 933, Vol.10) The injuries, looking at the x-rays and radiographs only, occurred within a sixweek period of January 1 to February 7. (TT 904, Vol.10) The only period of time that brackets both the rib fractures and the old subdural hematomas must have the injuries occurring before February 7. (TT 928-929, Vol.10)

Children who suffer from shaken baby syndrome have some deficiency in motor and/or mental skills. (TT 896-897, Vol.10)

Dr. Tilelli testified that the injuries to D. and A. are very similar in radiographic appearance so as to be almost indistinguishable. Both sets of injuries imply trauma. (TT 1017, 1018, Vol.11) The types of injuries these children received are typical of shaken baby syndrome. (TT 1018, Vol.11)

Rodney Whelan, an officer with the Rockledge Police Department, began investigating the D. T. case on February 17, 1998. He went over to APH to meet with Dr. Tilelli and D.'s parents, the T.. Based upon speaking with the T., Whelan spoke to Elizabeth Lovan at First Baptist day care. Next, he spoke with the workers at the day care. (TT 660-661, Vol.9) Whelan also went to Cape Canaveral Hospital in reference to A. P. and spoke with her parents. (TT 662-663, Vol.9)

Whelan spoke with Barber at the day care. Whelan informed Barber that she did not have to speak with him and Detective Bobay, but Barber consented to an interview. (TT 666-669, Vol.9) With regard to the A. P. incident on February

6, Barber stated that she had A. in the nursery and stepped across the hall to get some laundry. Barber got the laundry and started to fold it while A. was in her crib. About 10 to 15 minutes later, Barber heard A. make a sound like she was gasping for air. When Barber went over to her, she was frolicking and kicking. Barber picked A. up and took her over to the changing table. A.' skin was a bluish color. At that point, A.' body went limp. Barber checked A.' mouth for foreign objects. Barber went and got Lovan. (TT 660-670, 672, Vol.9) Lovan called 911 and Barber gave A. mouth-to-mouth resuscitation. After a short period, A. began to breathe on her own again. (TT 672, Vol.9) Barber stated to Whelan, that "if you think I did this for gratification, you're wrong." (TT 673, Vol.9) A. was the only child in Barber's care that morning.

With regard to the other incidents involving A., Barber stated that she had handed A. over to Dixon around 4:45 and went to look for her husband to go home. Barber stated Dixon stopped her and indicated A. was acting weird and seizure-like. The two of them took A. back into the infant room. A. was tensing up and curling up, and then relaxing, as if she was trying to have a bowel movement. The baby's breathing was labored. A.' mother showed up and took her to the emergency room. (TT 676-677, Vol.9)

When asked about D.'s injuries, Barber indicated that she had seen no inappropriate behavior at the church. (TT 682, Vol.9) Barber indicated to Whelan that, while working at the day care, she had become frustrated to the point where she placed a child in someone else's care. Barber stated she had become frustrated with A. in the past. (TT 701-702, Vol.9)

Dr. Pattisapu first saw D. on February 14. With regard to his films, Dr.

Pattisapu noted a recent contusion or hemorrhage on the left frontoparietal region. (R 1047, 1054-55) Recent bleeding would show as high density; subacute bleeding would show a mixed density. (R 1055) The injuries appear to be from two separate events; one from within a few days, the other anywhere from a few days to a few weeks. (R 1055-56, 1058, 1060-61) The oldest injury appeared to be, based on the MRI, three to six weeks old. (R 1057, 1058, 1060-61) About two-thirds of shaken baby cases also exhibit retinal hemorrhaging. (R 1064)

Both D.'s and A.' injuries are consistent with shaken baby syndrome. The shaken baby cases Dr. Pattisapu has seen are all fairly consistent; there are some minor variances, but no major differences. (R 1073-74)

Dr. David Cook, a child neurologist testifying on behalf of Barber, examined the medical records and test results of both A. and D., focusing, for purposes of the hearing, on February 5, 6 and 17. (R 1079-81) Dr. Cook noted a substantial increase in D.'s head circumference between November 24 and January 10. He opined that this increase could be due to an increase in brain size, a tumor, fluid or a trauma or injury. The increase could be due to a subdural hematoma. (R 1082-83) D.'s records show chronic evidence of blood on the brain. (R 1088) Dr. Cook believes that D.'s gastroesophogeal reflux was due to an acute subdural that occurred in November. (R 1089) The injuries seen in D.'s CT scan of March 3, 1998, occurred at least 4 to 6 weeks before the CT was taken. (R 1091) Dr. Cook believes that Barber could not have caused D.'s injuries if her first contact with him was on February 3. (R 1095) Dr. Cook admitted that D.'s injuries looked like he suffered from shaken baby syndrome. (R 1125)

With regard to A., Dr. Cook testified that she suffered from a subdural

hygroma: a collection of fluid with high protein content, like blood, that for some reason is not reabsorbed by the body. (R 1100) A.' CT scan taken on February 18 showed the presence of some acute blood. (R 1101) Dr. Cook had previously defined "acute" as occurring within the past 24 to 72 hours. (R 1093) A.' injuries, Dr. Cook believes, stemmed from a congenital hygroma present since her birth. (R 1124) Barber could not have caused A.' injuries. (R 1101-02)

Dr. Cook testified he saw no pattern between the injuries suffered by A. and D.. (R 1108) Dr. Cook only examined the infants' medical records and tests, he did not review the testimony of the infants' mothers. (R 1111) Dr. Cook was not saying that the symptoms suffered by A. and D. were not caused by trauma, just that they suffered the cause of their injuries prior to appearing at day care. (R 1124)

Dr. Stuart Strausberg, a diagnostic radiologist with a sub-speciality in neuroradiology testifying on behalf of Barber, reviewed the records of D. and A., focusing, for purposes of the hearing, on the radiological aspects of the injuries around February 5, 6 and 17. (R 1133-36) On D.'s CAT scan from February 14, Dr. Strausberg found a chronic subdural hematoma that was 3-5 weeks old. He also found scars on the scan. Dr. Strausberg testified that scars take from 6-10 weeks to form. Dr. Strausberg also found some fresh blood on the scan. A March 18 MRI of D. shows old blood. D.'s February 15 MRI shows layers of blood, but not acute blood. It was Dr. Strausberg's opinion that the findings present on D.'s February 15 film could not have been inflicted by Barber on February 5. The film showed more than one injury and it was mature. (R 1137-45)

A.' February 19 MRI shows a subdural hematoma that is from 4-8 weeks

old. The MRI shows areas of both increased and decreased signal intensity. A.' films show a laminated appearance of a subdural hematoma. Dr. Strausberg interpreted a mixed lesion showing areas of increased signal activity to probably mean that there had been multiple traumas occurring at different times. The injuries were at least 4-5 weeks old. (R 1150, 1152, 1155-56)

Dr. Strausberg believed that A.' injuries were not consistent with having occurred on February 6 or 17; D.'s injuries were not consistent with having occurred on February 5. It was impossible, in his opinion, for Barber to have been the perpetrator. (R 1159-60)

Dr. Strausberg defined acute as an injury having occurred no more than five to seven days prior; subacute would be defined as 7 to 14 days; chronic would be defined as an injury occurring more than 3 weeks ago. (R 1162, 1165)

According to Dr. Strausberg, for a shaking to result in a significant brain injury, it would have to be extremely violent. (R 1167-68) Dr. Strausberg also agreed that D. and A. were victims of shaken baby syndrome; he claimed they had suffered multiple incidents. (R 1169-70) Dr. Strausberg also agreed that Dr. Tilelli did a fine job in his clinical evaluation of D. and A., Strausberg just disagrees with Dr. Tilelli's opinion of the mechanisms of injury and timing. (AR 1170-71)

On August 29, 2000, the State sent the judge a letter citing case law in support of the admission of the Williams rule evidence. (R 1384-85)

Also on August 29, 2000, the trial judge ruled that the evidence in D.'s and A.' cases was not sufficiently similar to constitute Williams rule evidence. (R 1387-98, 1400-04) He found that the children were not previously healthy infants as D. suffered from gastrointestinal reflux and A. had a stuffy nose. (R 1391-92,

1402) The judge found that two injuries to infants in a short period was not that unusual since Barber worked in the infant room. (R 1392, 1403)

While the judge noted that all the doctors agreed that there was an accumulation of both old and new blood in both infants' brains, he found that the doctors disputed when the injuries causing the bleeding occurred. (R 1392-93, 1402-03)

The judge found that the facts that both victims were infants, both were enrolled at the same day care; both were injured about the same time, and both suffered from shaken baby syndrome, were merely fortuitously similar. The fact that the children had different parents and suffered altered mental status was unique, found the judge, but not so unique as to identify Barber as the perpetrator. (R 1393-94, 1403)

The judge further found that the evidence of Barber's prior incidents of mishandling with A. were not admissible since they were not similar. (R 1392, 1403)

The court also found that the prejudicial value of the similar fact evidence outweighed its probative value. (R 1403-04)

The court granted a tolling of the running of speedy trial for purposes of the State filing a petition for writ of certiorari. (R 1394-96) The State filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the Fifth District Court of Appeal, with an accompanying appendix. (R 1-54, 55-1432) The Fifth DCA issued an order to show cause to Barber. (R 1436) Barber filed a response to the State's petition. (R 1437-1459) The Fifth DCA issued an opinion granting the State's petition. (R 1465) See State v. Barber, 783 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). Barber filed a motion for rehearing (R 1466-1490) which was denied (R 1499).

Barber filed a timely notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this court.

(R 1500-01) This Court entered an order accepting jurisdiction and dispensing with oral argument. (R 29) Respondent's brief on the merits follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This court should adopt the opinion of the United States Supreme Court in Huddleston v. United States, 485 U.S. 681 (1988) that in determining whether the State has introduced sufficient evidence to meet the statutory requirements for the admissibility of collateral crime evidence, the trial court should neither weigh credibility nor make a finding that the State has proven the conditional fact by a clear and convincing standard. The trial court should simply examine all the evidence in the case and decide whether the jury could reasonably find the conditional fact by clear and convincing evidence.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal properly granted the State's petition for a writ of certiorari. As demonstrated in the case of <u>Barber v. State</u>, 781 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), the facts of the case support a finding that Barber committed the collateral crime by clear and convincing evidence. The opinion of the Fifth DCA should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING COLLATERAL CRIME EVIDENCE.

Petitioner, Ann Barber (Barber), asserts that the Fifth District Court of Appeal (DCA) erred in reversing the ruling of the trial court which improperly excluded testimony of collateral crime evidence. Respondent first asserts that this Court lacks jurisdiction to entertain the instant appeal. The decision of the Fifth DCA in <u>Barber v. State</u>, 781 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), affirms the trial court's admission of <u>Williams</u>² rule evidence. Specifically, the appellate court stated:

Barber contends that because no clear and convincing evidence was presented prior to admission before the jury that the former offense was actually committed by her, the court erred by allowing the evidence. We disagree. The State is only required to give notice of its intent to rely on Williams rule evidence pursuant to section 90.404(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1997). Barber responded with a motion to strike, which was heard and denied. That was all that was required by the motions that were filed. (Emphasis added).

<u>Id.</u> at 427-428. Contrary to Barber's assertion, the opinion of the Fifth DCA does not alter the standard for the admission of <u>Williams</u> rule evidence, nor does it provide that notice alone is sufficient for admission of collateral crime evidence. Instead, the <u>Barber</u> opinion merely states that the trial court acted properly in response to the motions filed by Barber *in this case*. A hearing was held on this motion at which Barber argued against the admission of any <u>Williams</u> rule evidence. Nothing more was

²<u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 361 U.S. (1959). Codified at § 90.404(2), Florida Statutes (1997).

required of the trial court, the Fifth DCA found, *based upon the motion filed*. Since the opinion of the appellate court limits itself to the particular facts of this case and does not conflict with any case, Respondent asserts that jurisdiction was improvidently granted in <u>Barber v. State</u>, SC01-1007. Since jurisdiction was improvidently granted in <u>Barber v. State</u>, SC01-1007, Respondent contends that jurisdiction was also improvidently granted in this matter.

An examination of Barber's arguments demonstrates that her position is without merit. Respondent maintains that the district court's opinion in <u>Barber v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, does not provide that the only thing the State must do to gain admission of collateral crime evidence is give notice pursuant to Florida Statute section 90.404(2)(b). Neither does the court's opinion alter the standard by which collateral crime evidence is to be admitted.

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